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Lisa Nowlin

From: Lisa Nowlin
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 11:52 AM
To: Timothy Rodrigues; George Cho
Cc: Mark Cooke; Bart Freedman
Subject: RE: FW: Following up Regarding Melissa Godsey's MAT Treatment

Dear Mr. Rodrigues,  

    I interpret your email to mean that the BOP will not provide written confirmation that Ms. Godsey will be able to 
continue her prescription Suboxone treatment, in advance of her arrival at her designated BOP institution. Given 
BOP’s policies excluding medication‐assisted treatment for non‐pregnant individuals, and the importance of 
continuity of treatment for Ms. Godsey, we are unwilling to wait until after Ms. Godsey has reported to her BOP 
institution to receive BOP’s determination of her treatment. Your unwillingness to confirm Dr. Pelton’s statements is 
concerning and we cannot help but conclude that intervention by the courts is necessary to protect Ms. Godsey’s 
rights.  

  

Regarding her medical records, we received them yesterday from her providers and will pass those along as 
instructed, once we receive a release from Melissa. Please confirm that the records will be used only for the purpose 
of determining the appropriate treatment for Ms. Godsey’s opioid use disorder, and will not be used for other 
purposes.  

  

Regards, 
Lisa 
 

From: Timothy Rodrigues <tarodrigues@bop.gov>  
Sent: Monday, September 09, 2019 5:23 PM 
To: Lisa Nowlin <lnowlin@aclu‐wa.org> 
Cc: Mark Cooke <mcooke@aclu‐wa.org>; Bart Freedman <bart.freedman@klgates.com> 
Subject: Re: FW: Following up Regarding Melissa Godsey's MAT Treatment 
 

Ms. Nowlin, 
  
Please refer to Assistant Director English's August 30, 2019 response to Mr. Freedman.  Ms. Godsey's individual treatment 
plan specific to her medical and mental health needs will be developed upon her arrival at her designated BOP 
institution.  Concerning Suboxone treatment in particular, please send recent medical records relevant to the treatment 
of her opioid use disorder to BOP as soon as possible prior to her arrival.  The records should be sent to the Clinical 
Director at her designated institution.  You can find staff mailing addresses for all BOP institutions 
here:  https://www.bop.gov/locations/. 
  
In addition, please send a copy of the records to BOP Western Regional Medical Director James K. Pelton, M.D., at the 
address provided in Assistant Director English's response. 
  
Thank you, 
 

 
Timothy A. Rodrigues | Senior Attorney 
US Department of Justice | Federal Bureau of Prisons 
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FDC Honolulu | PO Box 30547 | Honolulu, HI 96820 
T: (808) 838-4301| E: tarodrigues@bop.gov 
>>> Lisa Nowlin <lnowlin@aclu-wa.org> 9/9/2019 10:18 AM >>> 
Dear Nicholas and Timothy, 
  I received an out‐of‐office response from George’s email account in response to my below email, with instructions to 
contact either of you. I’ve also attached the correspondence to which I refer in my letter.  
 
Regards, 
Lisa 
 

From: Lisa Nowlin  
Sent: Monday, September 09, 2019 12:08 PM 
To: george.cho@usdoj.gov; George Cho <gcho@bop.gov> 
Cc: Freedman, Bart <bart.freedman@klgates.com>; Mark Cooke <mcooke@aclu‐wa.org> 
Subject: Following up Regarding Melissa Godsey's MAT Treatment 
 
Dear George, 
   I am following up on the ACLU of Washington and K&L Gates’ letter of August 16, 2019, regarding Melissa Godsey, 
and the BOP’s response dated August 30, 2019. Per the BOP’s instructions, I called Dr. Pelton on September 3, 2019, 
and was able to connect with him on Friday, September 6. He informed me that Ms. Godsey has been re‐designated 
from FCI Victorville to FCI Dublin, because there are better community medical resources there. Dr. Pelton also 
informed me that it is BOP’s intention to keep Ms. Godsey on her Suboxone treatment while incarcerated with the 
BOP, without interruption. He also informed me that the request for medical records was to learn about her current 
suboxone regimen to aid with her transition to FCI Dublin and the continuation of her MAT treatment.  
 
I asked Dr. Pelton if he could confirm our conversation in writing, and he directed me to you. Could you please confirm 
that the following are correct: 

 The Bureau of Prisons will order, dispense, and administer to Ms. Godsey her Suboxone treatment throughout 
the course of her incarceration in case number 2:18‐CR‐00115‐RAJ‐001.  

 Once counsel for Ms. Godsey has provided medical records documenting Ms. Godsey’s Suboxone regimen to 
Dr. Pelton, per the BOP’s request, he will send this information to FCI Dublin. BOP shall continue Ms. Godsey’s 
current does of Suboxone treatment throughout the course of her incarceration with the BOP (unless 
otherwise directed by her doctors in an emergency situation).  

 The BOP shall take all steps necessary to ensure that Ms. Godsey receives uninterrupted access to her 
Suboxone treatment.  

 If Ms. Godsey resides anywhere other than FCI Dublin as part of her sentence, such as a different BOP facility, 
halfway house, or residential reentry center, she will continue to receive uninterrupted access to her Suboxone 
treatment.  

 
Kind regards, 
Lisa 
 
 
Lisa Nowlin 
Staff Attorney 
Pronouns: she, her 
 
American Civil Liberties Union  
Foundation of Washington 
901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 630, Seattle, WA 98164 
 
206.624.2184 | lnowlin@aclu-wa.org 
www.aclu-wa.org 
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This message is intended only for the people to whom it is addressed and may include confidential attorney-client/attorney-work 
product communication. If this message is not addressed to you, please delete it and notify me. 
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THE HONORABLE RICHARD A. JONES 

 

 

 

 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 
AT SEATTLE 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
MELISSA GODSEY, 
 
 Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. CR 18-115-RAJ 
   
MOTION TO EXTEND DATE FOR 
VOLUNTARY SURRENDER 
 
 
 
Noted for: September 18, 2019 
 
 

    

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 Defendant Melissa Godsey respectfully requests that this Court extend her self-

surrender date by 120 days to January 28, 2020. The motion comes at the request of Ms. 

Godsey and her counsel at the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) of Washington 

and K&L Gates. The ACLU represents Ms. Godsey in her effort to continue Medication 

Assisted Treatment (MAT), without interruption, while serving a prison sentence in the 

Bureau of Prisons (BOP). The United States Probation Office, through Senior United 

States Probation Officer and Drug and Alcohol Treatment Specialist Jennifer Van 

Flandern, supports the requested 120-day extension of the self-report date. According to 

PO Van Flandern, Ms. Godsey is stable in the community. The government, 
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represented by the Assistant United States Attorney Stephen Hobbs, opposes this 

request. 

DISCUSSION 

District Courts have limited jurisdiction with respect to the manner in which the 

Bureau of Prisons (BOP) manages placement of individual defendants. See, e.g., United 

States v. Prismantas, 191 F.3d 462, at *2 (9th Cir. 1999) (“Bureau of Prisons has sole 

authority to designate a prisoner’s place of imprisonment. 18 U.S.C. §§ 3621(b), 3625.  

Therefore, a recommendation is no guarantee that [the defendant] would have been 

assigned to the boot camp program by the Bureau of Prisons.”). However, one of the 

areas in which orders from the District Court will be honored by the BOP is the date of 

self-surrender. Accordingly, Ms. Godsey requests an order from this Court to extend 

her self-surrender date.  

 This Court sentenced Ms. Godsey on June 28, 2019. In the Judgment, the Court 

recommended that the Bureau of Prisons (BOP) provide Ms. Godsey with MAT. Dkt. 

43 at 2. At Ms. Godsey’s sentencing, her counsel indicated that Ms. Godsey might 

request an extension of the report date if she did not receive confirmation that the BOP 

would continue MAT. The Court invited Ms. Godsey to request more time to report to 

the BOP, if necessary, to ensure the continuity of MAT. Ms. Godsey’s counsel at the 

ACLU now indicates that more time is necessary to protect Ms. Godsey’s rights.      

 By way of its Voluntary Surrender correspondence, dated August 1, 2019, the 

Probation Office notified Ms. Godsey that the BOP designated Ms. Godsey to the 

Federal Correctional Institution Victorville Medium II Satellite Camp and her self-

surrender date was September 30, 2019.  

Ms. Godsey is requesting an additional 120 days, to January 28, 2020, to self-

surrender. The ACLU and cooperating attorneys at K&L Gates agreed to represent Ms. 

Godsey. In a letter, dated August 16, 2019, to the Acting Director of the BOP and the 
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Assistant Director of the BOP’s Health Services Division, the ACLU requested the 

BOP “to continue [Ms. Godsey’s] MAT, without interruption, upon incarceration in 

federal prison, including taking her Suboxone daily as has been prescribed by her 

treating physician.” The ACLU noted that the “continuation of treatment should include 

having the medication ready upon arrival and providing medication at any additional 

BOP facility, halfway house or residential reentry center, where Ms. Godsey may reside 

as part of her sentence.” The ACLU requested written “confirmation by September 04, 

2019” before it would “initiate litigation in federal court for emergency relief on Ms. 

Godsey’s behalf.” The ACLU sent a copy of its August 16 letter this Court, the United 

States Attorney for the Western District of Washington, the Chief of the United States 

Probation and Pretrial Services for the Western District of Washington, and 

undersigned counsel.  

On August 29, 2019, as a follow up to the August 16 letter, counsel from the 

ACLU contacted George Cho of the BOP. The ACLU received an out-of-office 

response from Mr. Cho directing the recipient to another attorney, who informed the 

ACLU that the BOP would be responding through other channels.  

On September 3, 2019, the ACLU received a letter, dated August 30, 2019, from 

N.C. English, the Assistant Director of the BOP’s Health Services Division. The letter 

indicated that “(u)pon her arrival at the designated BOP institution, health care staff 

will evaluate Ms. Godsey and develop an individualized treatment plan specific to her 

medical and mental health needs. Regarding the continuation of Suboxone in particular, 

it would be extremely helpful if recent medical records relevant to the treatment of her 

opioid use disorder prior to her incarceration could be provided in advance of her 

arrival.”1 The letter did not directly answer the ACLU’s questions regarding Ms. 

                                              
1 The ACLU is waiting on confirmation from the BOP about the BOP’s limited use of medical 
records before seeking a release from Ms. Godsey to provide them.  
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Godsey’s treatment while in custody with the BOP. The letter provided contact 

information for Dr. K. Pelton, a Regional Medical Director with the BOP. The ACLU 

left a message with Dr. Pelton in the hopes of getting more information and a written 

confirmation that Ms. Godsey will be permitted to continue MAT in the BOP. 

Subsequently, the ACLU talked with Dr. Pelton, who said the BOP was trying to 

make arrangements to provide Ms. Godsey with Suboxone. The ACLU asked for 

written confirmation but Dr. Pelton asked the ACLU to contact George Cho of the 

BOP. As previously indicated, the ACLU received an out-of-office response from Mr. 

Cho on August 29. 

On September 6, 2019, the BOP changed Ms. Godsey’s designation from FCI 

Victorville to FCI Dublin. A confirmation of the re-designation was sent by e-mail from 

Mr. Cho to AUSA Hobbs. Mr. Cho noted that FCI Dublin is currently working on a 

protocol for the implementation of MAT to inmates on a case-by-case basis and that he 

hopes “to receive further updates on the implementation of MAT at FCI Dublin in the 

upcoming weeks,” which will be passed on to AUSA Hobbs.  

In an effort to receive written confirmation of Dr. Pelton’s assurances, the 

ACLU sent an e-mail to Mr. Cho on September 9, 2019. The ACLU received another 

out-of-office response indicating that Mr. Cho will be out of the office until September 

16, 2019. The ACLU forwarded the e-mail it sent to Mr. Cho, as directed by Mr. Cho’s 

out-of-office message, but one of the two recipients did not have an active e-mail 

account.  

Given the amount of time the ACLU anticipates it will take to receive written 

assurances from the BOP, as well as Mr. Cho’s indication that it could be weeks before 

he receives updates on the implementation of MAT protocols at FCI Dublin, a 120-day 

extension of Ms. Godsey’s self-report is reasonable. It appears the ACLU and the BOP 

are attempting to negotiate a resolution without involving the courts. But, in the event 
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they are unable to resolve the issue in a manner that protects Ms. Godsey’s rights under 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, which prevents discrimination against a qualified 

individual with a disability, the ACLU and the cooperating attorneys at K&L Gates 

intend to file a lawsuit against the BOP seeking injunctive and declaratory relief to 

allow Ms. Godsey to continue MAT, without interruption, during her incarceration. The 

ACLU indicates that it is crucial that it has enough time to bring the case and a 

preliminary injunction to ensure continuity of Ms. Godsey’s treatment.  

Ms. Godsey’s request for an extension of the self-report dates directly relates to 

the possibility that the BOP will discriminate against her and she will have no recourse 

to protect her rights. Ms. Godsey diligently obtained representation from the ACLU to 

help her continue MAT, without interruption, during her upcoming incarceration. 

Through the combination of hard work, dedication to her children, taking Suboxone as 

prescribed, and support from the United States Probation Office, Ms. Godsey has been 

clean and sober for nearly 15 months. The continuation of MAT, without interruption, 

is necessary to ensure Ms. Godsey will not relapse in the BOP and will not experience 

withdrawal symptoms. Without MAT, the chances of overdose and death increase. 

Without MAT, the likelihood that Ms. Godsey will reoffend increases. Through her 

request to continue MAT in the BOP, Ms. Godsey seeks a course of action consistent 

with positions recommended by the medical community and her Probation Officer.  

Ms. Godsey, through the ACLU, seeks a common sense resolution that 

maintains Ms. Godsey’s sobriety, keeps the community safe, and reduces recidivism. 

Due to the ongoing negotiations between Ms. Godsey and the BOP, Ms. Godsey 

respectfully requests that this Court issue an order extending Ms. Godsey’s self-report 

date to January 28, 2020.  
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CONCLUSION 

 It is respectfully requested that this Court grant Ms. Godsey’s request to extend 

the date for her voluntary surrender to January 28, 2020.   

 DATED this 10th day of August, 2019.   

    

      Respectfully submitted, 
      s/ Gregory Geist                                 

Assistant Federal Public Defender 
      Attorney for Melissa Godsey 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on September 10, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing 

document with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send 

notification of filing to all registered parties.   
  

/s/ Barbara Hughes    
Paralegal 
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The Hon. Richard A. Jones 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT SEATTLE 
 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 Plaintiff, 

 

 v. 

MELISSA GODSEY,  

  Defendant. 

NO. CR18-115-RAJ 
 
GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO 
MOTION TO EXTEND DATE FOR 
VOLUNTARY SURRENDER 

 

Comes now the United States of America, by and through Brian T. Moran, United 

States Attorney for the Western District of Washington, and Stephen Hobbs, Assistant 

United States Attorney for said District, and files this Government’s Reponses to Motion 

to Extend Date for Voluntary Surrender (Dkt. 46).  The government respectfully requests 

that the motion be denied.  

I. INTRODUCTION 

Melissa Godsey (hereafter “Godsey”) pled guilty to the following crimes:  

Counts 1, 2 & 3: Bank Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Section 1344(1) and (2). 

Counts 4 & 5: Aggravated Identity Theft, in violation of Title 18, United 
States Code, Section 1028A(a)(1). 
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Count 6: Possession of Stolen Mail, in violation of Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 1708. 

On June 28, 2019, Godsey was sentenced to 24 months and one day incarceration 

and allowed to self-report to the Bureau of Prisons. Her report date is September 30, 

2019.   

On September 10, 2019, Godsey moved to delay her report date on the basis that 

the Bureau of Prisons (BOP) has not guaranteed that she will be allowed to receive 

medically Assisted Treatment (Suboxone) while in custody.   

The government respectfully requests that Godsey’s motion be denied.  BOP has 

taken affirmative steps to consider whether Godsey is eligible for Medically Assisted 

Treatment (MAT) while incarcerated, including re-designating her to a facility where 

there is the possibility of receiving such treatment.  BOP has requested that Godsey 

submit medial paperwork related to her need for MAT.  Those records were received by 

BOP on the morning of September 17, 2019.  BOP will remake a final decision about 

MAT treatment within 14 days of Godsey arriving at the BOP.  Because the BOP is 

taking reasonable steps to ensure that Godsey will receive MAT (assuming she qualifies), 

the motion to delay the reporting dated should be denied.   

II. FACTUAL SUMMARY   

On June 28, 2019, Godsey was sentenced to 24 months and one day for Bank 

Fraud (three counts), Aggravated Identity Theft (two counts), and Possession of Stolen 

Mail (one count).  Godsey was allowed to self-surrender by September 30, 2019.  Exhibit 

A.   

On August 1, 2019, the Probation Office informed Godsey that her designated 

BOP facility was FCI Victorville.  Exhibit B.   

On August 16, 2019, attorneys for the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 

sent a letter to the Acting BOP Director and the Assistant Director of the BOP Health 

Service’s Division demanding that BOP continue Godsey’s Suboxone treatment without 
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interruption.  The ACLU requested confirmation that BOP would do so by September 6, 

2019, or it would “initiate litigation in federal court for emergency relief”.   Exhibit C.  

The BOP responded in a letter dated August 30, 2019, and received by the ACLU 

on September 3, 2019.  This letter states in relevant part: 

 
Exhibit D.   

 As set forth in Godsey’s motion, counsel for the ACLU contacted Dr. Pelton, who 

indicated that the BOP was trying to arrange for Godsey to receive Suboxone treatment.  

Dkt. 46, p. 4.   

On September 6, BOP Legal Counsel George Cho provided undersigned counsel 

with an update concerning Godsey’s placement and MAT status.  Briefly, the BOP had 

re-designated Godsey to FCI Dublin “based upon the likelihood of her candidacy to 

continue MAT (Suboxone),” and BOP was continuing to request that Godsey provide 

medical records supporting her need for MAT.  That same day, undersigned counsel 

forwarded the contents of the email to Federal Public Defender Greg Geist.  The email 

stated in relevant part: 

// 

// 
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Exhibit E.    

On September 10, 2019, Godsey filed the present motion.1  

On September 11, 2019, BOP Legal Counsel Timothy Rodrigues provided an 

update to undersigned counsel as to the procedures forth evaluating whether Godsey 

should receive MAT (Suboxone).  In relevant part, the e-mail stated: 

 
Exhibit F.2 

                                              
1 In Godsey’s motion, there are several allegations that the ACLU did not receive a response 
form FDC Legal Counsel George Cho.  The motion fails to mention that FDC Senior Attorney 
Timothy Rodrigues contacted counsel for the ACLU by email on August 30 and September 6, 
2019.  Those emails are attached as Exhibit G and H. 
 
2 The BOP Policy for Inmate Care is attached as Exhibit I.   
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 On September 17, 2019 (the day the government’s response to the underlying 

motion was due), Dr. Jim Pelton, BOP Western Regional Medical Director, received 

Godsey’s medical records.  The records are in the process of being reviewed by BOP 

medical staff.  BOP intends to make a preliminary decision concerning Godsey’s 

eligibility for MAT, which will be finalized upon her arrival at FCI Dublin and the 

medical evaluation conducted at that time.  Exhibit J.   

III. DISCUSSION 

The government does not dispute that this Court has the authority to set the 

reporting date for individuals it has sentenced.  The government respectfully submits, 

however, that doing so in the present case is not appropriate.   

First, and most basically, BOP appears to be acting in a reasonable and appropriate 

manner in response to Godsey’s request that she be approved for MAT (Suboxone).  BOP 

has responded in a timely manner to the letters sent on Godsey’s behalf by the ACLU and 

there has been contact between BOP’s legal counsel and the BOP Regional Medical 

Director with ACLU attorneys.  More importantly, BOP has re-designated Godsey to a 

prison facility where she may actually receive Suboxone treatment.   

Second, BOP has made the reasonable request that Godsey provide medical 

records supporting her claim that she requires MAT (Suboxone).  These records were 

received on the morning of September 17, 2019, and are in the process of being reviewed 

by BOP medical staff.  At a bare minimum, it is premature to request a continuance of the 

report date until BOP has completed this review and made a formal decision to deny 

Godsey MAT.   

Third, BOP has a procedure in place for evaluating inmates to determine whether 

they require MAT upon their arrival at their designated facility.  It is an entirely 

appropriate protocol that BOP medical staff be allowed to physically examine an 

individual before making a medical decision about the necessary care to be provided an 

inmate.  BOP is seeking to expedite that process by requesting Godsey’s medical 
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paperwork before her report date. In this case, the process to determine whether MAT is 

appropriate should be allowed to occur pursuant to standard BOP procedures.   

Finally, the government submits that it would be unwise to grant a continuance of 

Godsey’s report date under threat of litigation and without a more fully-developed record.  

It appears that BOP is working to accommodate Godsey’s alleged need for MAT.  

Having now received Godsey’s medical records, BOP intends to make a preliminary 

decision concerning Godsey’s eligibility for MAT, which will be finalized upon her 

arrival at FCI Dublin and the medical evaluation conducted at that time.  It is possible, 

but certainly not guaranteed, that Godsey will arrive at her designated facility and be 

smoothly transitioned to MAT as she has requested.  Alternatively, if that does not occur, 

then Godsey can litigate the matter at the appropriate time.   

DATED this 17th day of September, 2019. 

 

      Respectfully submitted,  
 
      BRIAN T. MORAN 
      United States Attorney 
 
      s/ Stephen Hobbs   
      STEPHEN HOBBS 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      United States Attorney’s Office 
      700 Stewart, Suite 5220 
      Seattle, WA 98101-3903 
      Telephone:  206-553-4301 
      Fax:   206-553-0755 
      E-mail:  stephen.p.hobbs@usdoj.gov 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on September 17, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing 

with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notification of 

such filing to the attorney(s) of record for the defendant(s).  

  

s/ Alissa Harris                           
ALISSA HARRIS 
Paralegal Specialist 
United States Attorney’s Office 
700 Stewart Street, Suite 5220 
Seattle, Washington 98101-1271 
Phone: (206) 553-4439 

  Fax: (206) 553-4440 
      Email: Alissa.Harris@usdoj.gov 
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